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1. INTRODUCTION 

National civil registration and vital statistics systems are the core source of data on vital 
statistics used for policy-making and tracking progress across the economic and social 
spheres. The information on births, deaths and causes of death emanating from the civil 
registration and vital statistics system is of particular importance in measuring health sector 
requirements, tracking health system performance, and evaluation the effectiveness of health 
interventions. 

Despite their pivotal role, the civil registration and vital statistics systems in many 
countries of the Eastern Mediterranean Region are weak or barely functional. There are 
several reasons for the weaknesses. Civil registration systems require the collaboration of 
multiple partners, which can be difficult due to the absence of a solid legal and policy 
framework. Constraints in financial resources, limited availability of skilled personnel, and 
lack of community and civil society involvement also contribute to the weakness of civil 
registration systems. 

WHO has developed an assessment tool to help countries to evaluate how well their 
civil registration and vital statistics systems are performing in terms of their ability to generate 
useful vital statistics. The tool is intended to help pinpoint deficiencies in the national system 
and identify areas for improvement. 

The WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean organized an intercountry 
consultation on the assessment of civil registration and vital statistics systems in the Region in 
Beirut, Lebanon on 9–12 November 2009. The ultimate goal of the consultation was to 
discuss strategies for strengthening the systems in order to improve the quality, quantity and 
use of information they generate. Specific objectives were to:  

• Raise awareness of the importance of civil registration and vital statistics and the need 
to improve in the Region 

• Share and discuss methods for assessing country civil registration and the availability 
and quality of vital statistics 

• Promote and introduce the new WHO assessment tool; assess its value for the 
development of country plans and proposals for strengthening civil registration and vital 
statistics systems; and consider ways of applying the assessment tools in countries for 
improving civil registration and vital statistics 

• Train participants on the use of ICD-10, especially on death certification and coding 
• Discuss the roles and responsibilities of health metrics network in strengthening country 

health information systems in general and civil registration and vital statistics systems in 
particular. 

The meeting was attended by participants from all countries of the Region except 
Djibouti, Qatar and Somalia. All country participants were representing their ministries of 
health in the capacity of either Director of Health Information System or Head of Statistical 
Unit, responsible for or familiar with the registration process of vital events in their respective 
countries. The Office of Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia (ESCWA) in 
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Beirut also attended the consultation throughout. A team of WHO staff was responsible for 
facilitating and the overall management of the consultation, with a number of experts from 
other institutes including the University of Queensland, Australia were also invited as 
facilitators. An expert representing the Health Metrics Network (HMN) secretariat based at 
WHO headquarters also facilitated one of the sessions.  

The meeting was opened by Dr Daher Daher Aden, Acting WHO Representative for 
Lebanon, who delivered a message from Dr Hussein A. Gezairy, WHO Regional Director for 
the Eastern Mediterranean. In his message, Dr Gezairy focused on the importance of civil 
registration and vital statistics systems and the use of data generated for measuring progress 
and monitoring health system performance. The fact that at least six of the Millennium 
Development Goals (MDGs) rely on accurate data on mortality and causes of death for 
monitoring progress was mentioned as an example of the multiple uses of data produced by 
civil registration and vital statistics systems. He emphasized that countries should to work 
together with other stakeholders to review their existing civil registration and vital statistics 
systems and take advantage of global and local initiatives for supporting the establishment and 
strengthening of civil registration systems in their respective countries. 

Dr Juraj Riencan, Director of Statistics Division in the Regional Office of ESCWA in 
Lebanon, addressed the meeting and expressed appreciation for the efforts of WHO in 
supporting the countries to establish functional civil registration and vital statistics systems. 
He said that strengthening the civil registration and vital statistics systems was also a priority 
for ESCWA, which would join hands with WHO in this endeavour for the countries of the 
Region. 

To meet the objectives of the consultation, the programme of the four-day meeting was 
organized in such a way to include presentations by expert facilitators and also interaction 
between the facilitators and participants as well as among the participants from different 
countries through plenary discussions and group work. In order to make the meeting more 
participatory, for each of the morning and afternoon sessions during the four days, one 
participant was selected as chair to moderate the meeting.The programme of the meeting and 
list of participants are included as Annexes 1 and 2. A glossary of terms used in the meeting is 
attached as Annex 3. 

2. PRESENTATIONS, PLENARY SESSIONS AND DISCUSSIONS  

2.1 Agenda, goals and objectives of the consultation 
Dr Mohamed Ali, WHO/EMRO 

Describing the currently weak and stagnant state of civil registration and vital statistics 
systems in some countries of the Region, the presenter quoted an article from The Lancet: 
Who counts? (November 2007): “Absence of reliable data on birth, death and causes of death 
are considered to be at the root of this scandal of invisibility, which renders most of the 
world’s poor as unseen, uncountable, and hence uncounted.” The article urges donors and 
global partners to encourage countries to make efforts to register every birth and death and to 
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certify every cause of death. In addition, in the absence of effective civil registration, interim 
measures to fill critical data gaps need to be put in place. In this regard, the questions posed 
for deliberation were: Why are the data so limited and of such poor quality? What can we do 
in the meantime? How can we improve matters? 

The Health Metrics Network and WHO are currently implementing health information 
system assessment tools in several countries of the Region. As part of overall health 
information system strengthening, civil registration and vital statistics systems should be 
assessed as a first step in improving the quality and use of birth, death and cause-of-death 
information. 

The objectives of the assessment tool developed by WHO and the University of 
Queensland are to: comprehensively identify gaps and weaknesses in birth, death and cause of 
death statistics and the system that produces them; actively involve key country stakeholders 
in the assessment process; and provide the evidence for an improvement strategy that has the 
support of all involved in the production and use of vital statistics. The overall goal is to 
support countries to carry out a comprehensive evaluation of the functioning of their vital 
statistics systems, in order that they produce better data for policy and public health use, 
thereby contributing to improving national health information systems, which can be used to 
achieve better population health outcomes. 

The current meeting differed from previous meetings on the subject in that it would 
focus on mortality rates and causes. It would also identify solutions and how to improve 
coordination between different stakeholders at country level. 

2.2 Background: the global picture, issues and challenges 
Ms Carla AbouZahr, WHO/HQ 

As a human rights issue, civil registration provides legal proof of the occurrence and 
characteristics of births and deaths and thus helps ensure rights and obligations of individuals. 
As a policy issue, civil registration is the best source of vital statistics, which are the basis for 
policy-making, monitoring and evaluation. As a planning issue, vital statistics provide 
governments with key data: where, when and how many people are born and die and why. As 
a development issue, civil registration is an indicator of good governance. And as a 
monitoring issue, vital statistics provide a continuous flow of data for the smallest 
administrative areas and can represent a complete record of events. 

The presentation elaborated on the status of civil registration and vital statistics systems 
at present; problems with vital statistics and why under-registration matters; and problems 
with registration of cause-of-death data. The presentation also drew attention to the 
recommendations of the UN ESCWA meeting of 2007 in Cairo, Egypt; the reasons for poor 
development of civil registration and vital statistics systems; and the role of WHO in support 
of civil registration/vital statistics. 

The presentation concluded by reaffirming the aims of the consultation: to raise 
awareness of the importance of civil registration and vital statistics and the need to improve in 
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the Region; to share and discuss methods for assessing country civil registration and quality of 
vital statistics through “apid assessment” and “in-depth, standards-based review”; to consider 
ways of applying the assessment tools in countries; and to propose ways of improving civil 
registration and vital statistics. 

Discussion 

Many participants stated that the information available at WHO did not accurately 
reflect data availability at country level. It was clarified that the information presented 
reflected only the reports available at WHO Geneva and indeed might not be an up-to-date 
reflection of data availability and quality in countries. This situation highlighted the gaps in 
communication, thereby reinforcing one of the purposes of the consultation: to improve links 
and share information. 

Most of the participants argued that their countries’ data on births were very good, but 
that data on deaths and particularly on cause of death had deficiencies. It was pointed out that 
almost all deaths are registered in hospitals or health centres, and emergency room doctors 
register most of those deaths. These doctors have the main responsibility for attributing time 
and cause of death, but this may give rise to problems because they are very busy with 
multiple responsibilities. Having a trained staff member responsible for death registration on a 
daily basis in each hospital could relieve pressure from emergency room doctors and improve 
data quality. As well, a standardized form is needed to use in death reports. 

2.3 Why vital statistics matter: What is needed to accelerate progress? 
Dr Lene Mikkelsen, WHO Temporary Adviser 

The presentation covered problems with vital statistics and accuracy and common 
quality problems in cause-of-death reporting. It described a good vital statistics system and 
discussed which vital statistics countries need. Some of the issues with vital statistics in the 
Region, especially the problem of completeness and the way forward were presented in detail 
and relevant recommendations and suggestions provided. 

Discussion 

The discussion in this session continued to revolve around the data communication 
problems between countries and WHO, which often results in WHO presenting outdated 
figures or stating that no data are available. 

2.4 Civil registration in the broader context of health information system 
strengthening 
Dr John Cutler, Health Metrics Network Secretariat 

Why is the Health Metrics Network (HMN) needed? The main reasons include: lack of 
cohesive, comprehensive integrated information system for health; lack of integration of 
health and population information notably civil registration and vital statistics; parallel data 
systems and indicators; focus on monitoring and evaluation rather than health information 
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systems; incompatibility of data from different sources; and weak analytical and reporting 
function. 

The goal of HMN is to increase the availability and use of timely and accurate health 
information in country and globally by catalysing the joint funding and development of core 
country health information systems. HMN objectives, network and expected results are to: 
enhance the common framework and related tools and their use by countries; expand national, 
regional, and global networks that strengthen country information systems; and document and 
share the results and impact of improved health information systems on use of information for 
decision-making and better health. 

The HMN approach to strengthening civil registration and vital statistics systems is to: 
build partnerships for leadership (WHO, World Bank, Global Fund, UN Statistics Division, 
Partnership in Statistics for Development in the 21st Century, UNICEF, UNFPA, UNDP); 
develop a network of technical agencies and experts to support strengthening in countries; and 
advocate for national civil registartion and vital statistics system strengthening, integration 
with health information systems and use of information  

Discussion 

There has been great progress in the Region and in the communication systems. In 
previous years there was a problem of coordination between WHO and HMN but over the 
years it has evolved to work smoothly. HMN is a partnership using the administrative support 
as well as the principles of WHO. HMN makes a point of knowing whom they are working 
with. However, the letters of agreement are signed between HMN and governments, not with 
individuals.  

Master training is the primary task. Therefore, people are not moved from one country 
to another. The goal is to build a rich and reliable group of people in each Region. However, it 
requires time to find them and get them engaged.  

The proposal for a workshop was well received; it was suggested such a workshop 
might take place in the first quarter of next year. People engaged would be from the health 
institutes, from statistical offices, WHO officers and key donors. The main goal is to facilitate 
and improve civil registration and to provide technical support. Donors are needed to provide 
technical equipment such as computers. 

2.5 Sharing country experiences and challenges in civil registration and vital statistics 
system – (group work) 

For this exercise, the participating countries were divided into four groups as the 
following: 

Group 1: Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Saudi Arabia, United Arab Emirates 
Group 2: Egypt, Morocco, Tunisia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya 
Group 3: Syrian Arab Republic, Palestine, Jordan, Lebanon, Iraq 
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Group 4: Sudan, Islamic Republic of Iran, Pakistan, Yemen, Afghanistan 

The groups worked according to the template provided to them and then reported in the 
plenary presentation. A representative from each of the four country groups presented the 
results of their group work, which provoked interesting discussions among the participants. 

Discussion 

During discussions, it was pointed out that the number of deaths taking place in 
hospitals is low in most countries, which is a great constraint in itself since doctors have to 
move from place to place to follow up and register death and causes rather than staying and 
practising in hospitals. In the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya two different death registration forms 
are used, one for the health facilities and doctors and another one for government ministries 
for legal processing. This is burdensome for doctors, who already are very busy. 

The presence of many foreigners, especially in Gulf Cooperation Council countries, is 
an added problem for births and death registration, as there is no standard for them and they 
are treated differently in different countries. 

Most of the countries felt that data on birth registration are relatively good, but data on 
deaths and cause of death as well as fetal death are under-reported. Political commitment 
considered very important for the success of vital registration system. One of the problems is 
also the age certification of elderly people. It is difficult to estimate their age accurately and 
therefore have to rely on a wider age-range. 

2.6 Rapid assessment tool for civil registration and vital statistics systems 
Dr Lene Mikkelsen, WHO Temporary Adviser  

The rapid assessment tool consists of 25 questions based on the WHO framework. For 
each, four mutually exclusive scenarios are proposed with scores from 0 to 3. The overall 
score will roughly indicate how functional or dysfunctional the vital statistics system is. 

Scores (%):  <34   Dysfunctional 
   35–64  Weak 
   65–84  Functional but inadequate 
   85–100  Satisfactory 

The use of the rapid assessment tool was further clarified by providing an example of a 
question from the tool. The interpretation of scoring is as the following: 

• Scores of 85% and above indicate that vital statistics systems function well and only 
minor adjustments are likely to be needed 

• Scores between 65% and 84% indicate that the vital registration system is functioning 
but with some elements that function poorly 

• Scores between 35% and 64% indicate that the vital statistics system is weak and there 
are multiple issues that require attention  
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• Scores below 35% indicate that the system is dysfunctional, requiring substantial 
improvements in all areas. 

Countries with scores below 65% have a lot to gain by a careful application of the 
comprehensive review tool. 

Discussion 

The Health Metrics Network assessment tool covers the entire health information 
system and therefore it is relatively superficial and does not require the same detailed 
knowledge as is required by those who assess the vital registration system. Conducting rapid 
assessment and the HMN exercise would not be advisable. It was noted that the HMN tool 
does not tell users what is wrong. That is why the new tool was developed.  

There is no scientific method to weight categories according to importance, and that the 
scores should only be taken as indicative and not as a precise metric. This is the same in any 
self-assessment tool. In the rapid assessment the importance is not the score but the discussion 
that takes place among those who do the assessment and their shared view on the system.  

The scoring system had been added because countries wanted a quick and easy way to 
measure their systems. A composite measure like the rapid assessment score that summarizes 
information is useful for drawing the attention of busy people who are unlikely to read a 20 
page report.  

It was emphasized that the tool was not developed to compare countries but for 
countries to assess themselves and to use the results for deciding whether to carry on with the 
comprehensive assessment. If a country thought it would not be useful to do the rapid 
assessment it should not do it. 

It was mentioned that in some countries, a fee is charged for birth registration and this 
discourages and reduces the number of voluntary registrations. It was strongly recommended 
that timely birth registrations should not be charged. 

The rapid assessment is entirely a country-driven exercise, and a lead agency should 
initially invite a group of key stakeholders to form a review committee that should be 
responsible for carrying out the assessment. Although the rapid assessment works on a 
national level, many countries need to assess the functioning of their systems at the 
subnational level. If there is sufficient demand the tool could be adapted so that it also could 
be used at the subnational level. WHO is interested to learn what the needs of each country 
are in this respect. 

In discussing the rapid assessment experience, it was clear that there is need for 
sufficient advance time in countries and for the questionnaire to be available in local 
languages. In more than one country the rapid assessment had been done by one stakeholder 
only, which was not effective practice.  
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2.7 Guidance for a standards-based review of country practices in civil registration 
and vital statistics: How to use the tool for country implementation  
Ms Carla AbouZahr, WHO/HQ 

Two tools were introduced. The first offered a rapid assessment of national civil 
registration and vital statistics systems that could be completed within a matter of hours by a 
small group of knowledgeable experts in the country. A second, more comprehensive tool 
offered an in-depth review of country practices with regard to civil registration and vital 
statistics systems. This would require considerable stakeholder participation and would 
require more time to implement. However, it would also permit a more detailed diagnostic of 
system strengths and weaknesses and help identify key areas for improvement in the short- 
and medium-terms.  

Participants discussed the assessment tools in some detail, including through group 
exercises. The outcomes of the deliberations presented in the plenary presentations (Copies of 
the rapid assessment and in-depth review can be obtained from WHO EMRO). 

Discussion 

The rapid assessment is a 25-question assessment while comprehensive assessment is 
much more detailed and requires the involvement of country stakeholders over a significant 
period of time. The rapid assessment can highlight areas of concern but cannot identify 
specific actions needed to improve the situation. The comprehensive assessment enables a 
detailed analysis of specific challenges, such as how to ensure correct ascertainment and 
coding of causes of death. This requires the involvement of many departments in different line 
ministries. 

There is an underlying assumption that improving civil registration will improve vital 
statistics and thus lead to better health-related decisions and, ultimately, better health. 
Demonstrating this assumption in practice is quite challenging However, there are good 
examples in countries where improved vital statistics led to major changes in health policy. 
For example, in the United Kingdom, the civil registration system enabled the identification of 
rising levels of lung cancer mortality that could be linked to increased smoking rates. In South 
Africa, a long history of denial of HIV was overcome to a large extent by the increasing 
availability of cause-specific data from the registration system. The system was also 
instrumental in drawing attention to violence as a major cause of death among young people. 

Rapid assessment should be carried out to identify weaknesses and to inform the 
development of an advocacy case for improving the system. The role of WHO could include 
training people or providing technical support, depending on country request. 

It was stressed that while each of the steps described in the assessment tool is important, 
it is important also to adapt the process to meet countries’ needs and contexts. It is critical for 
each country assessment team to read the questionnaire carefully and adapt it ito the country 
reality. Nongovernmental organizations should be involved in the launching. The tool is in the 
final stages of editing and layout. Since most of hospitals are now computerized, IT people 
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should be involved from the start. As stakeholders, they can be of great help if they remain 
updated from the beginning. 

Bringing improvement in the vital registration systems would need different approaches 
for each country, such as for post conflict countries. As yet there is no standard method to 
support countries in choosing the right approach and selecting the right resources. WHO has 
been asked to help develop such tools and some studies have been introduced especially in 
post-conflict countries, but this is a challenging issue.  

2.8 Application of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD): certification and 
coding challenges for countries in the Region 
Dr Robert Jakob, WHO/HQ  

Death certification and coding of causes of death are key components of civil 
registration and vital statistics systems. The use of ICD for death certification and coding of 
causes of death in countries of the Region presents many challenges, including lack of 
technical capacity and staff trained in use of ICD, lack of financial resources for training and 
creating incentives for ICD users, and above all, lack of priority attention to ICD on the part 
of policy-makers. There were also concerns expressed regarding the translation of ICD into 
local languages. These issues and others related to the ICD implementation were further 
elaborated in the presentation and ensuing group work and discussions. 

For more knowledge on ICD-10 and its use, all the participants practised working with 
the ICD training tool (hands-on activity) on individual laptops, with the facilitators available 
to respond to queries and requests for clarifications. 

2.9 Introduction to the WHO verbal autopsy tool 
Ms Carla AbouZahr, WHO/HQ  

Verbal autopsy is a method of ascertaining probable causes of a death from interview 
with primary caregivers about the signs, symptoms and circumstances preceding that death. 
This method can be used to obtain a fairly accurate representation of cause-specific mortality 
in the absence of full civil registration and medical certification of cause-of-death.  

Issues covered under the presentation included: 

• What is verbal autopsy? 
• Use of verbal autopsy 
• Problems in past use of verbal autopsy 
• From interview to diagnosis 
• From certification to coding 
• Implementation issues 
• Verbal autopsy and lay reporting 
• Determining cause of death  
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In response to queries about how to implement verbal autopsy techniques, it was 
pointed out that it was important to involve local research institutions in conducting verbal 
autopsies and to take the time to review and adapt the questionnaires to local circumstances. 
The accuracy of the verbal autopsy may vary between settings, and, therefore, the instrument 
should be validated in the settings where it is used.  

For countries wishing to use verbal autopsy as part of efforts to understand patterns and 
causes of mortality overall, verbal autopsies could be conducted in randomly selected districts 
or areas. The sample size should be sufficient to generate information about a sufficiently 
large set of causes of death, taking into account local age and sex structures. The involvement 
of experienced researchers will help in calculating the optimum sample size required but the 
number of deaths needed to generate robust cause-specific mortality fractions would probably 
be between 10 000 and 20 000. Sample sizes could be reduced considerably by focusing on 
specific age–sex–cause groups and by following up a smaller population over a longer period.   

The verbal autopsy works best for diseases with a well-defined and unique set of 
symptoms, such as measles and accidents. The verbal autopsy is less able to discriminate 
between diseases with overlapping symptoms, such as malaria and pneumonia, or HIV/AIDS 
and tuberculosis. Further research is needed on the potential use of verbal autopsy techniques 
as part of routine cause of death determination for deaths that occur outside health facilities. 

2.10 Common problems in mortality statistics and cause-of-death analysis 
Professor Alan Lopez, WHO Temporary Adviser  

The main sources of mortality data are routine data, for example vital statistics including 
cause-of-death information from civil registration, sample registration systems (SRS) 
with/without cause-of-death information, and demographic surveillance systems (DSS) 
with/without cause-of-death information. Some are ad hoc, such as health surveys, with or 
without cause-of-death information. 

Why do we need to capture cause-of-death information in mortality statistics, and how 
and with what frequency? Cause-of-death information is critical to guide treatment/prevention 
programmes; it needs to be annual, timely (<2 year delay). The two ways to do so are: 1) 
medical certification of cause of death by doctor (best practice); and 2) verbal autopsy, 
preferably with MD reviews (surveys, SRS, DSS). 

The main challenges with cause-of-death data are: incomplete registration of deaths; 
poor certification of the cause of death; poor availability/timeliness of data; poor use of data; 
and poor understanding of the true value of cause-of-death data. Yet countries each year spend 
millions of dollars to maintain cause-of-death data collection systems. What is worse, 
imperfect data or not using data at all because of lack of confidence in them? Key challenges 
to overcome include lack of understanding of value, lack of critical analytical capability, and 
lack of strategic thinking about how to improve system. 

It is not possible to simply use cause-of-death data from hospitals. This is because not 
all deaths in hospitals are registered; cause-of-death patterns in hospitals are biased compared 
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to community deaths (e.g. over-representation of severe/acute care patients), unreliable 
clinical procedures can lead to inaccurate cause of death data, and hospital interests differ 
from public health interests. 

There are many examples from different countries on death and cause-of-death of 
registration to emphasize the importance of quality of data and encourage the participating 
countries to further improve the quality of their data. Some simple calculations exist 
(described in the assessment guidelines) that would help identify problems with the 
completeness and quality of vital statistics. 

• Calculate incompleteness of registration data.  
• Calculate crude death rate. Figures less than 3 are too low and indicate bias and missing 

data. 
• Review sex and age and cause patterns of mortality and compare with standard patterns.  
• Compare data with other sources. For example, compare under-5 mortality from the 

registration system with census and survey data.  
• Review mortality from ill-defined causes, preferably by age and sex.  

3. CONCLUSIONS  

Available information on the current status of civil registration and vital statistics 
systems indicates that few of the 22 countries in the Region have relatively well-functioning 
systems. More than half of the countries in the Region either do not have functioning civil 
registration systems or have systems with limited capacity. During the discussions it emerged 
that in some countries, recent efforts to improve the civil registration and vital statistics 
systems had resulted in considerable improvement in data availability and quality. It was 
agreed that there is a need to share the results of such efforts more widely, especially with 
WHO at regional and global levels. 

In collaboration with experts and institutions with responsibilities in various aspects of 
civil registration and vital statistics, WHO has developed several tools to assist countries in 
assessing and strengthening their civil registration and vital statistics systems. 

• Improving the quality and use of birth, death and cause of death information: guidance 
for a standards based review of country practices (including a rapid assessment 
instrument) (2010) 

• Verbal autopsy standards: ascertaining and attributing cause of death (2007) 
• Computer-assisted training tool for ICD (2010) 

Countries are strongly encouraged to use these tools and to request technical support 
and training in their use as needed. 
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4. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Assessment tools 

1. Countries should undertake a review of the current state of their civil registration and 
vital statistics systems using the rapid assessment tool. 

2. In order to identify strategies for improvement of their civil registration and vital 
statistics systems, countries should carry out an in-depth assessment using the WHO 
guide which will enable an in-depth diagnosis of strengths, weaknesses and areas for 
improvement. 

3. Both assessments should be conducted in collaboration with all relevant stakeholders 
and concerned institutions. 

4. Countries wanting to improve their vital statistics systems should approach the Regional 
Office for technical support as necessary. 

5. Countries should use the assessment tools to generate the evidence base upon which to 
develop a detailed plan for improving their vital statistics, including short-term and 
longer-term objectives and activities. 

ICD implementation 

6. Countries should promote the use of ICD in certifying and coding mortality and 
morbidity. 

7. Death certificates should follow international standards and include minimum required 
data. 

8. Basic knowledge of the ICD and its public health use should be included in medical 
training curricula. Countries are encouraged to use the WHO computer-assisted learning 
package to enhance skills in death certification and coding.  

Mortality data  

9. Mortality and cause-of-death data should be compiled and presented according to 
standard ICD tabulations and by age group, disaggregated by sex. 

10. Periodic assessments of completeness of vital statistics should be carried out using 
standard demographic techniques and by comparing registration data to other sources, 
e.g. surveys and censuses. 
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11. Countries should seek to strengthen data analysis capacities within ministries of health 
and should also make greater use of available analytical skills in local academic and 
research institutions when conducting reviews of data availability and quality. 

12. Countries should consider undertaking a burden of disease exercise to help guide policy-
making. However, the essential first step is to review and improve the availability and 
quality of mortality data. 

13. Countries where significant proportions of deaths occur outside medical institutions 
should consider using verbal autopsy techniques to develop estimates of patterns of 
causes of death in these population groups. This should be done in collaboration with 
local research and public health institutions and using WHO-recommended procedures. 

General recommendations 

14. In order to maximize the effective use of information for decision-making, countries 
should use all available means, including the web and printed media, to ensure that 
stakeholders have access to mortality and cause-of-death data, and associated metadata. 

15. WHO Regional Offices and headquarters should increase their efforts to compile the 
most recent available country mortality data and make greater use of such data in 
developing regional and global estimates. 

16. Countries should explore ways to strengthen the links between evidence and policy, 
including the need for more advocacy to bring on board policy-makers and to ensure 
that they make use of the available evidence in monitoring progress towards health-
related goals and targets and health sector planning. 
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Annex 1 

PROGRAMME 

Monday, 9 November, 2009 
08:30–09:00 Registration  
09:00–09:30  Opening Session 

Message from EMRO  
Message from ESCWA 

Dr Daher Aden 

09:30–10:00 Agenda, goals and objectives of the Consultation Dr Mohamed Ali 
10:30–11:30 Introduction: Background:  the global picture, issues and 

challenges  
Discussion 

Dr Carla Abou Zahr 

11:30–12:30 Why vital statistics matter: What is needed to accelerate 
progress? 
Discussion 

Dr Lene Mikkelsen 

13:30–14:30 Putting civil registration into a broader context of health 
information system strengthening 

Dr John Cutler 

14:30–17:00  Country group work (using provided template) 
Country groups share experiences and challenges in 
their civil registration and vital statistics system 

 

Tuesday, 10 November, 2009 

09:00–10:30 Feedback group country groups 
Each presentation maximum 20 minutes  
What are the challenges? What is needed to address 
them? 
Discussion 

Facilitator: 
Dr Mohamed Ali 

11:00–12:30 Feedback on rapid assessment tool 
Countries summarize experiences in completing the 
rapid assessment. 
What were the challenges? Were the findings consistent 
with expectations? Did the tool identify new issues? 

Facilitator: 
Dr Lene Mikkelsen 

14:00–14:30 Presentation of tool to comprehensively review vital 
statistics from civil registration 

Dr Carla Abou Zahr 

14:30–15:00 How to use the tool for country implementation Dr Lene Mikkelsen 
15:30–17:00 Group exercise on country implementation Dr Lene Mikkelsen 

Dr Carla Abou Zahr 
Dr Abla Sibai 
Mr Aseel Khan  

Wednesday, 11 November, 2009 

09:00–09:30 Feedback on group exercises from countries Dr Abla Sibai 
09:30–10:30  Application of the ICD: certification and coding Dr Robert Jakob  
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challenges for countries in the Region  
Overview of the ICD training tool 

Dr Kassem Sara 

11:00–11:30  Overview of the ICD training tool Dr Robert Jakob 
11:30–12:30 Introduction to the WHO verbal autopsy tool  Dr Carla Abou Zahr 
14:00–17:00 Common problems in mortality statistics and cause of 

death analysis: working with country data 
Dr Alan Lopez 

Thursday, 12 November, 2009 
09:00–12:30 Working with the ICD training tool (hands-on activity) Dr Robert Jakob  

Dr Kassem Sara 
14:00–15:00 Planning next steps for implementing the tools in 

countries 
Dr Alan Lopez  
Dr Lene Mikkelsen 

15:00–15:30  Planning for next steps: Role of WHO Dr Mohamed Ali 
Dr Carla AbouZahr 

16:00–16:30 Wrap up and closing Dr Mohamed Ali 
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Annex 2 

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS  

AFGHANISTAN 
Dr Mohammad Ashraf Mashkoor 
Director, Health Information System 
Ministry of Public Health 
Kabul 
E-mail: ashrafmashkoor@yahoo.com 
 
 
BAHRAIN 
Dr Ebrahim Ali Al Nawakhtha 
Director, Health Information  
Ministry of Health  
Manama 
E-mail: Enawakda@health.gov.bh 
Official Website:  www.moh.gov.bh 
 
 
EGYPT 
Dr Sohier Saad Botrous 
Director General for Internet and Publishing 
National Information Centre for Health  
Ministry of Health 
Cairo 
E-mail: sohierb@mohp.gov.eg 
Official Website:  www.mohealth.gov.eg 
 
 
ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF IRAN 
Dr Ardeshir Khosravi 
Head of Information Technology 
Minister of Health and Medical Education  
Teheran 
E-mail: khosravi-a@health.gov.ir 
 
 
IRAQ 
Ms Manahil Abdullah Ahmed  
Deputy Head Statistician, Bio-informatics Statistics Unit 
Ministry of Health  
Baghdad 
E- mail: manahilabdullah-hp-@yahoo.com   
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JORDAN 
Dr Majed Asad 
Head of Mortality Department 
Information and Research Directorate 
Ministry of Health 
Amman 
E-mail: majed@moh.gov.jo  
 
 
KUWAIT 
Dr Abdulaziz Khalaf 
Director of Statistics and Medical Records 
Ministry of Health 
Kuwait 
E-mail: malsalameen@yahoo.com 
Official Website: www.q8.whs.com 
 
 
LEBANON 
Ms Hilda Harb 
Head of Statistics Department 
Ministry of Public Health 
Beirut 
E-mail: Dep-stat@public-health.gov.lb 
Official Website: www.public-health.gov.lb 
 
 
LIBYAN ARAB JAMAHIRIYA  
Dr Mohamed Ibrahem Saleh 
Director of Health Information Center 
Secretariat of Health 
Tripoli 
E-mail: msaleh@lttnet.net 
 
 
MOROCCO 
Mr Abdelilah El Marnissi 
Chief of Studies and Health Information Unit  
Ministry of Health  
Rabat  
E-mail: a.elmarnissi@hotmail.fr 
Official Website: ww.sante.gov.mo   
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OMAN 
Dr Ahmed Mohamed AlQasmi 
Expert, Information and Statistics 
Ministry of Health 
Muscat 
E-mail: ahmqasmi@gmail.com 
Official Website:  www.moh.gov.om 
 
 
PALESTINE 
Mr Motasem A. Hamad 
Health of Vital Statistics Division  
Ministry of Health 
E-mail: mutasim_moh@yahoo.com 
 
 
PAKISTAN 
Mr Ashraf Shahien 
Chief Statistical Officer 
Ministry of Health  
Islamabad 
E-mail: shahien.ashraf@yahoo.com  
 
 
SAUDI ARABIA 
Mr Nabil Abdulaziz Othman 
General Supervisor of Information Centre 
Statistics Department 
Ministry of Health 
Jeddah 
 
Mr Mohamed Abdulla Al-Othman  
Ministry of Health 
Riyadh 
E-mail: maaa61@yahoo.com 
 
 
SUDAN 
Dr Amel Elamin Mohammed 
National Health Information Centre (NHIC) 
Federal Ministry of Health  
Khartoum  
E-mail: ieba2000@gmail.com 
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SYRIAN ARAB REPUBLIC 
Dr Talal Bakfalouni 
Director of Planning 
Ministry of Health 
Damascus 
E-mail: talalbakfalouni@hotmail.com 
Official Website: www.moh.gov.sy 
 
 
TUNISIA 
Mr Moncef Bouslama 
Head of Statistics Division  
Studies and Planning Department 
Ministry of Public Heath 
Tunis 
E-mail: moncef.bouslama@rns.tn 
 
Dr Zouhair Fekih 
Director of Studies and Planning  
Ministry of Public Health 
Tunis 
E-mail: zouhair.fekih@rns.tn 
 
 
UNITED ARAB  EMIRATES 
Dr Abdulla Alneaimi 
Director of Health Statistics and Research Centre 
Ministry of Health 
Abu Dhabi 
E-mail: abdnaimi@emirates.net.ae 
Official Website:  www.moh.gov.ae  
 
Dr Huda Al Suwaidi 
Consultant Family Medicine 
Deputy Director, Center for Statistics and Health Research 
Director, World Health Survey 
Ministry of Health 
Abu Dhabi 
E-mail: drhudas@yahoo.com 
Official Website:  www.moh.gov.ae 
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YEMEN 
Dr Abduljabbar Al Ghaithi 
Director General of Information and Research 
Ministry of Public Health and Population 
Sanaa 
E-mail: aghaithi@gmail.com 
Official Website:  www.moh.gov.ye  
 

WHO TEMPORARY ADVISORS 
Dr Lene Mikkelsen 
Consultant, Health Information Systems 
School of Population Health 
Faculty of Health Sciences 
The University of Queensland 
Brisbane  
AUSTRALIA 
E-mail: l.mikkelsen@sph.uq.edu.au 
 
Dr Alan Lopez 
Professor and Head 
School of Population Health 
The University of Queensland 
Brisbane 
AUSTRALIA 
Email: a.lopez@sph.uq.edu.au  
 
Ms Dona Khater 
Rapporteur 
Beirut 
LEBANON 
E-mail: DonnaKhatter@hotmail.com  
 

OTHER ORGANIZATIONS 
 
United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia (ESCWA) 
Dr Juraj Riencan 
Director 
Statistics Division  
Beirut 
LEBANON 
E-mail: riecan@un.org  
 
Ms Fathia AbdelFadil 
Team Leader 
Statistics Division 
Email: abdelfadil@un.org 
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WHO SECRETARIAT 

Dr Daher Daher Aden, Acting WHO Representative, Lebanon 
Dr Mohamed Ali, Regional Adviser, Evidence, Health Situation and Trends Assessment, 
WHO/EMRO 
Dr Kassem Sara, Regional Adviser, WHO Arabic Programme, WHO/EMRO 
Mrs Carla AbouZahr, Coordinator, Statistics, Monitoring and Evaluation, HIS/IER, WHO/HQ 
Dr John Cutler, Chief of Country Programmes, Health Metrics Network Secretariat, 
WHO/HQ 
Dr Robert Jakob, Medical Officer, Classifications, Terminologies and Standards; 
WHO/IER/HSI/CTS, WHO/HQ 
Mr Aseel Khan, Technical Officer, Evidence, Health Situation and Trends Assessment, 
WHO/EMRO 
Dr Alissar Rady, National Professional Officer, WHO Lebanon 
Mrs Naglaa Salah, Admin. Programme Clerk, Budget & Conference, WHO/EMRO 
Ms Lamia Torki, Senior Secretary, WHO/EMRO 
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Annex 3 

GLOSSARY 

This glossary provides generic definitions for some of the terms used in the report. 

Term Description 

Civil registration The continuous, permanent, compulsory, and universal recording of the occurrence and 
characteristics of the vital events, and other civil status events pertaining to the 
population as provided by decree, law or regulation, in accordance with the legal 
requirements in each country. 

Fetal death or mortality Fetal mortality refers to stillbirths or fetal death. It encompasses any death of a fetus 
after 20 weeks of gestation or 500 gm. In some definitions of perinatal mortality (PNM) 
early fetal mortality (week 20–27 gestation) is not included, and the PNM may only 
include late fetal death and neonatal death. Fetal death can also be divided into death 
prior to labour, antenatal (antepartum) death, and death during labour, intranatal 
(intrapartum) death. 

Health information system 
(HIS) 

A system that integrates data collection, processing, reporting, and use of the 
information necessary for improving health services effectiveness and efficiency through 
better management at all levels of health services. 

Health Metrics Network 
(HMN) 

The HMN is a global partnership that facilitates better health information at country, 
regional and global levels. The Network was formally launched in May 2005 during the 
58th session of the World Health Assembly. A resolution on the HMN was passed 
during the 60th session of the Assembly. Hosted by the World Health Organization in 
Geneva, Switzerland, HMN aims to increase the availability and use of timely and 
accurate health information by catalysing the joint funding and development of core 
country health information systems. 

International Classification of 
Diseases (ICD) 

The International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems 
(most commonly known by the abbreviation ICD) provides codes to classify diseases 
and a wide variety of signs, symptoms, abnormal findings, complaints, social 
circumstances, and external causes of injury or disease. Under this system, every health 
condition can be assigned to a unique category and given a code, up to six characters 
long. Such categories can include a set of similar diseases. 

The International Classification of Diseases is published by the World Health 
Organization and used worldwide for morbidity and mortality statistics, reimbursement 
systems and automated decision support in medicine. This system is designed to promote 
international comparability in the collection, processing, classification, and presentation 
of these statistics. The ICD is a core classification of the WHO Family of International 
Classifications (WHO-FIC). 

The ICD is revised periodically and is currently in its tenth edition. The ICD-10, as it is 
therefore known, was developed in 1992 to track mortality statistics. ICD-11 is planned 
for 2015 and will be revised using Web 2.0 principles. Annual minor updates and three-
yearly major updates are published by WHO. The ICD is part of a “family” of guides 
that can be used to complement each other, including also the International 
Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health which focuses on the domains of 
functioning (disability) associated with health conditions, from both medical and social 
perspectives. 

Mortality rate Mortality rate is a measure of the number of deaths (in general, or due to a specific 
cause) in some population, scaled to the size of that population, per unit time. Mortality 
rate is typically expressed in units of deaths per 1000 individuals per year; thus, a 
mortality rate of 9.5 in a population of 100 000 would mean 950 deaths per year in that 
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Term Description 
entire population. It is distinct from morbidity rate, which refers to the number of 
individuals in poor health during a given time period (the prevalence rate) or the number 
who currently have that disease (the incidence rate), scaled to the size of the population. 

One distinguishes: 

The crude death rate, the total number of deaths per year per 1000 people. The crude 
death rate for the whole world is currently about 8.24 per 1000 per year according to the 
current CIA World Factbook. 

The perinatal mortality rate, the sum of neonatal deaths and fetal deaths (stillbirths) per 
1000 births. 

The maternal mortality rate, the number of maternal deaths due to childbearing per 
100 000 live births. 

The infant mortality rate, the number of deaths of children less than 1 year old per 1000 
live births. 

The child mortality rate, the number of deaths of children less than 5 years old per 1000 
live births. 

The standardized mortality rate (SMR)- This represents a proportional comparison to the 
numbers of deaths that would have been expected if the population had been of a 
standard composition in terms of age, gender, etc. 

The age-specific mortality rate (ASMR) - This refers to the total number of deaths per 
year per 1000 people of a given age (e.g. age 62 last birthday). 

Note that the crude death rate as defined above and applied to a whole population can 
give a misleading impression. The crude death rate depends on the age (and gender) 
specific mortality rates and the age (and gender) distribution of the population. The 
number of deaths per 1000 people can be higher for developed nations than in less-
developed countries, despite life expectancy being higher in developed countries due to 
standards of health being better. This happens because developed countries typically 
have a completely different population age distribution, with a much higher proportion 
of older people, due to both lower recent birth rates and lower mortality rates. A more 
complete picture of mortality is given by a life table which shows the mortality rate 
separately for each age. A life table is necessary to give a good estimate of life 
expectancy. 

Verbal autopsy (VA) Verbal autopsy is a method of ascertaining probable causes of a death from interview 
with primary caregivers about the signs, symptoms and circumstances preceding that 
death. This method can be used to obtain a fairly accurate representation of cause-
specific mortality in the absence of full civil registration and medical certification of 
cause of death. 

Vital events The occurrence of a live birth, deaths, fetal death, marriage, divorce, adoption, 
legitimating, recognition of parenthood, annulment of marriage or legal separation. 

Vital registration All sanctioned modes of registering individuals and reporting on vital events (can 
include registration activities through complementary systems not part of the civil 
registration and do not produce legal birth or death certificates). 

Vital statistics Summary measure of vital events drawn from all sources of vital events. 

Vital statistics system Obtaining information by civil registration or enumeration on the frequency or 
occurrence of specified vital events, and relevant characteristics of the events 
themselves.  
Compiling, processing, analysing, evaluation, presenting, and disseminating these data in 
statistical forms. 

 


